

MEETING AUDIT COMMITTEE

DATE AND TIME THURSDAY, 20 SEPTEMBER 2007 AT 7PM

VENUE THE TOWN HALL, THE BURROUGHS, HENDON, NW4 4BG

TO: MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE (Quorum 3)

Chairman: Councillor Jeremy Davies Vice Chairman: Councillor Daniel Thomas

Councillors:

Danish Chopra	Geof Cooke	Richard Cornelius
Mukesh Depala	Marina Yannakoudakis	

Substitutes: Councillors Wayne Casey

Hugh Rayner

Dean Cohen Alan Schneiderman Monroe Palmer Agnes Slocombe

You are requested to attend the above meeting for which an Agenda is attached.

Janet Rawlings, Democratic Services Manager

Democratic Services contact: Katy Lam 020 8359 2015

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DIRECTORATE

To view agenda papers on the website: <u>http://committeepapers.barnet.gov.uk/democracy</u>

FACILITIES FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

The Town Hall has access for wheelchair users including lifts and toilets. If you wish to let us know in advance that you will be attending the meeting please telephone Katy Lam on 020 8359 2015. People with hearing difficulties who have a text phone, may telephone our minicom number on 020 8203 8942. All of our Committee Rooms also have induction loops.

ORDER OF BUSINESS

ltem No.	Title of Report	Contributors	Page Nos
1.	MINUTES	-	-
2.	ABSENCE OF MEMBERS		
3.	PUBLIC QUESTION TIME	-	-
4.	DECLARATION OF MEMBERS' PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS	-	-
5.	MEMBERS ITEMS	-	-
6.	Internal Audit Report	HIA&EG	1 - 20
7.	External Auditor's Report under International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260 for the Year 2006/7	DDfR&CFO	21 - 24
8.	Statement of Internal Control 2006/7	CE	25 - 52
9.	ANY OTHER ITEMS THAT THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT	-	-

Fire/Emergency Evacuation Procedure

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the building by the nearest available exit. You will be directed to the nearest exit by Committee staff or by uniformed porters. It is vital you follow their instructions.

You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts.

Do not stop to collect personal belongings.

Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move some distance away and await further instructions.

Do not re-enter the building until told to do so.



AGENDA ITEM: 6	Page nos. 1-20
Meeting	Audit Committee
Date	20 September 2007
Subject	Internal Audit Report
Report of	Head of Internal Audit and Ethical
Summary	Governance The Committee is asked to note the outcome of the follow up of the Housing Rents and Housing Rent Deposit Scheme audits.
Officer Contributors	Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance
Status (public or exempt)	Public
Wards affected	N/A
Enclosures	Appendix A – Summary of previous Internal Audit work on the Housing Rent Deposit Scheme
For decision by	Audit Committee
Function of	Council
Reason for urgency / exemption from call-in (if appropriate)	N/A
• · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Contact for further information: Michael Bradley, Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance 020 8359 7151



1 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

- 1.1 That the Committee note the contents of the report.
- 1.2 That the Committee consider whether there are any areas on which they require additional action.

2 RELEVANT PREVIOUS DECISIONS

2.1 The Audit Committee on 28th June 2007, having noted the Internal Audit Annual Report for 2006/7, instructed the Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance, to arrange a further follow up of the Housing Rents audit and report the findings to the next Committee meeting. The Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance was also instructed, in consultation with the Chairman of the Audit Committee, to seek an assessment of progress made on the audit of the Housing Rent Deposit Scheme before the next meeting of the Audit Committee. During the consultation it was agreed that the progress on the Housing Rent Deposit Scheme be reported the Audit Committee.

3 CORPORATE PRIORITIES AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 Continuous improvement is necessary for us to deliver our priorities. We must improve how we work and the infrastructure we work with. Our corporate services, including finance, human resources and corporate governance, play a significant part in helping us achieve our vision for:

"A smaller entity with a smaller but more efficient corporate support function and a greater concentration of resources on outcomes."

3.2 We are committed to continually improving how we work to provide community leadership, community choice and higher quality services at the lowest possible price. (Corporate Plan 2007/08 - 2010/11)

4 RISK MANAGEMENT ISSUES

4.1 The purpose of this report is to brief the Audit Committees on the progress made by management to mitigate risks reported on the audits of Housing Rents and Housing Rent Deposit Scheme.

5 EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

5.1 It is an overriding principle that services provided to the whole community represent value for money in terms of quality, efficiency and effectiveness. This supports the Council's obligations in meeting its public duties under Equalities legislation.

6 FINANCIAL, STAFFING, ICT AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None directly as a result of this report but it is for management to determine whether addressing any of the risks identified by internal audit reports will require additional resources.

7 LEGAL ISSUES

7.1 None

8 CONSTITUTIONAL POWERS

8.1 Constitution Part 3 Paragraph 2 details the functions of the Audit Committee including "To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested" and "To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations not implemented within a reasonable timescale".

9 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Housing Rents

- 9.1 Audit reviewed this area in 2005-06 and concluded at the time that satisfactory assurance could be provided that the service would achieve its objectives. In the absence of any evidence to support progress in implementing agreed management actions to mitigate reported risks by 2006-07, our follow up review concluded that the risk exposure had increased from satisfactory to limited.
- 9.2 The further follow up review in August 2007 confirmed that adequate progress has been made toward implementing the agreed management actions and therefore we have raised our assurance to satisfactory.

Housing Rent Deposit Scheme

- 9.3 The objective of the Rent Deposit scheme is to reduce the overall use of more expensive temporary accommodation by assisting clients in housing need to move into the private sector in a cost effective manner. This is achieved through the payment of the deposit on a property and a rent advance payment equal to the first month's rent.
- 9.4 Audit reviewed this area in 2003-04 and concluded that no assurance could be provided that the service would achieve its objectives. There was no significant improvement by 2005-06 when our follow up review concluded that the risk exposure had increased from medium to high.
- 9.5 A further audit review in 2006/7 also concluded that no assurance could be provided that the service would achieve its objectives. The follow up review in August 2007 confirmed no significant progress in management action toward mitigation of the reported risks and therefore we are reporting no change to the assurance already provided. The findings, risks, agreed actions and current

position from all four audits have been summarised in Appendix A to this report.

- 9.6 Of the ten reported risks, only one was fully mitigated, three partly mitigated and six remained unmitigated. The two priority 1 risks that remain unmitigated are:
 - Incorrect information is available for decision making purposes and allocation of housing and
 - Inappropriate dealings with the public, causing a loss to the council.
- 9.7 One of the priority 1 risks, "Financial loss to the Council resulting from lack of effective processes for recovery of debts", was partly mitigated. We were able to confirm the following, as at the 28 August 2007 (based on service records which are not yet reconciled to the Council's financial records):
 - £1.352M total deposits paid out from the start of the scheme;
 - £1.079M total recoverable deposits recognised by the service, of which:
 - £0.282M has been due for immediate recovery following termination of the tenancies (service procedure does not allow us to determine the age of these debts).
 - £0.116M actually recovered to date.

Further management action will be required to address any discrepancy identified when reconciling the service records to the Council's financial records.

10 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS

10.1 None.

Legal:CM CFO:JL

First Audit	Follow-up	Second Audit	Follow-up
April 2004	September 2005	November 2006	August 2007
Information ManagementDatabase to monitor expiry of tenancies expected to be in place a year earlier was still not realised.Recommendation1:Implementation of IT system (Priority 1)The Resources Manager should make arrangements for the prompt implementation of the IT system.	Partly Implemented Management Comment : The IT system is implemented and is at final stage of testing. It will be up and running by 30th September 2005. Further Action: Implemented to Go-live stage. Implementation Date: September 2005	Information Management Arrangement for managing data and its integrity may be inadequate. Risk 2 Priority 1 Database integrity Incorrect information is available for decision making purposes and allocation of housing.	Not Implemented Effectively The unsuitability of the SAFFRON database module has been recognised by management and therefore all team data is now maintained on an excel spreadsheet. However a number of issues were noted that affect the integrity of the data kept on the spreadsheet – - No controlled archiving on spreadsheet to enable reconstruction should the file be corrupted. - No indication of accuracy of data / not reconciled to SAP. - No password control. - No or partial cell / work sheet protection to prevent deletion / alteration to all key data. - No close off points to enable closed period monitoring, i.e. 'as at 31 March X6'.

First Audit April 2004	Follow-up September 2005	Second Audit November 2006	Follow-up August 2007
			 2. In the absence of access to a server, back up is currently made on a memory key and taken off site. This key is used to write-over previous weeks back up. However if the back-up is corrupted, prior backed-up versions are not retained in order to recover and recreate lost data. <u>Management comment:</u> We will retain back-up archives going forward. The responsibility of providing adequate back-up facilities lies with IT therefore responsibility for this action should lie with IT as well.
			 Further Action: 1. Ensure that appropriate action is taken to ensure integrity of data held on the spreadsheet in the absence of a database. 2. Ensure that weekly back ups are not over-written in consecutive weeks so that at any given time three consecutive

First Audit April 2004	Follow-up September 2005	Second Audit November 2006	Follow-up August 2007
			backs are retained in case of data loss / corruption to current back up Proposed Implementation Date: October 2007.
Written ProceduresComprehensiveup-to-datewritten procedures were not inplace.Recommendation 2: Procedurenotes(Priority 2)Detailed procedure notes aredrawnupanddistributedamongstthePrivateSectorTenancy Officers.	Implemented Procedures notes have been formulated and distributed to appropriate Officers.	Written Policy and ProceduresFormal policy and procedures for qualifying offers not in place.Risk 8Priority 2Discharge of dutyPriority 2Reduction in the numbers of homelessness (acceptances and in temporary accommodation) may not be achieved effectively in the absence of an approved policy and procedures for "Qualifying Offers".	Not Implemented <u>Management comment:</u> Qualifying offers are not relevant to the private sector team. They are more relevant to the homelessness team. <u>Audit comment:</u> Whilst mitigation of the risk is not the responsibility of the private sector team, the service overall is still exposed to this risk.
Quality Control Key documentation to support assessment and approval of rent deposits were not available for all	Implemented Files checks are performed by Housing Assessments Officer. Documentation of checks is		Not Implemented Further to findings in the audit report - random file checks,

First Audit	Follow-up	Second Audit	Follow-up
April 2004	September 2005	November 2006	August 2007
cases. No management process to ensure quality control. Recommendation 3: File Reviews (Priority 1) The Resources Manager should periodically carry out file reviews to ensure that the relevant documentation is present and procedures are being complied with.	maintained.	cases. No management process to ensure quality control. Risk 9 Priority 2 Quality control Ineffective service delivery due to inadequate quality control processes.	landlord checks, review of procedures and sign up forms to ensure safeguarding of Council's interests and intelligence sharing across the teams not in place. <u>Management comment:</u> Audit assistance is now requested for a checklist of required file documents and checks to be established. <u>Audit Comment:</u> Audit will be happy to provide input when requested by the service. However it should be noted that it is Management responsibility to establish effective processes to ensure that the procedures set out by management are complied with at an operational level. Further Action: Ensure that appropriate processes are established for quality control.

First Audit April 2004	Follow-up September 2005	Second Audit November 2006	Follow-up August 2007
			ProposedImplementationDate:November 2007.
Maximise Income Due There was no process to confirm recovery of all rent advances.	Implemented Reconciliations are being done on a bi-monthly basis.		
Recommendation4:ReconciliationofRentAdvances(Priority 1)Aregular(e.g.monthly)reconciliationshouldbecarriedoutbetweenrentadvancespaidtotenantsandamountsrecoveredrecoveredfromHousingBenefits.			
Maximise Income Due Responsibility was not assigned to ensure effective process for dealing with rent advances not fully recovered.	Implemented Outstanding amounts are identified as part of the reconciliation process.		
Recommendation5:ReconciliationofRentAdvances(Priority 1)Where an amount has not been			

First Audit April 2004	Follow-up September 2005	Second Audit November 2006	Follow-up August 2007
recovered, or has only been partly recovered, an officer from the Private Sector Tenancy Team should be given the responsibility of following up the outstanding amount with the Housing Benefits Section to determine the reasons and take appropriate action to recover advances.			
Maximise Income Due There was no process to confirm recovery of all returnable rent deposit advances.	Partly Implemented A mail out has been sent to all Landlords, requesting status of tenancy and outstanding sums.	Maximise Income Due There was no process to confirm recovery of all rent advances.	Partly Implemented Reconciliation of service records to SAP are not undertaken
Recommendation6:ReconciliationofDeposits(Priority 1)A regular reconciliation should be carried out between outstanding deposits and active tenancies.	Responses have been received and have been reviewed. Management is currently reviewing claims where there is disputes to claims. Further Action: Undertake reconciliations for outstanding deposits and active tenancies.	There was no process to confirm recovery of all returnable rent deposit advances. Transactions on accounting records did not match the local service records. There was no process to identified and resolved promptly any errors between accounting records and local service records to ensure that amounts reported in the Council's voar and statement are correct	currently to identify debt and ensure correct value is reported on the Council's accounts. <u>Audit Comment:</u> Whilst we confirm that letters were sent out to Landlords to identify recoverable deposits and some monies have been recovered since, we note that the follow up process for recovery is not robust. The balance on the
	Implementation Date: November 2005	year end statement are correct. Risk 4 Priority 1	financial system was not know.

First Audit	Follow-up	Second Audit	Follow-up
April 2004	September 2005	November 2006	August 2007
Maximise Income DueResponsibility was not assigned to ensure effective process for dealing with recovery of rent deposits advanced but due for full recovery.Recommendation7:ReconciliationofDeposits (Priority 1)Where a tenancy has expired and the deposit is still outstanding, an officer from the Private Sector Tenancy Team should be given the responsibility of ensuring that the landlord has received the relevant correspondence regarding the amount, and that the case has been passed to the Legal Section where appropriate for the recovery of deposits.Accurate Accounting Records Transactions on accounting records did not match the local	been formulated. Reconciliations have not taken place. Management Comment: The Housing Options Manager has been made responsible for this. Landlords have been sent a letter for pursuance of outstanding debts. Responses have been received and will be collated and appropriate action will be taken.	Recovery and reconciliation Financial loss to the Council resulting from lack of effective processes for recovery of debts.	Furthermore the following position, based on service records, was established that as at 28 August 2007 - Total paid deposits to date were £1,352,073 (1661 tenancies) total recoverable deposits were £1,079,040 there was £282,330 (approximately 350 tenancies) outstanding where tenancies had been identified by management as terminated but deposits had not been returned by the landlord Total paid deposits to date were £1,352,073 (1661 tenancies) £116, 564 had been refunded to date by Landlords (LL). Management comment: 1. We have initiated a dialogue (on 28.08.07) with Accounts Receivable (AR) and we anticipate that we will be passing over recoverable unpaid debts to AR for recovery by October 2007.

First Audit	Follow-up	Second Audit	Follow-up
April 2004	September 2005	November 2006	August 2007
service records. There was no process to identified and resolved promptly any errors between accounting records and local service records to ensure that amounts reported in the Council's year end statement are correct. Recommendation 8: Reconciliation of Finance and Private Sector Tenancy records (Priority 1) A regular (e.g. monthly) reconciliation should be carried out between the records of outstanding amounts held by Finance and the records held by the Private Sector Tenancy Team and prompt corrective action taken by the appropriate party on any variances highlighted.	Management comment: The Housing Options Manager has been recruited and this will be addressed by the person in post. The meetings are now regular with Finance. Further Action: Obtain records from finance and to conduct reconciliations and take corrective action to address any variances highlighted on a regular basis. Implementation Date: November 2005		 We will assess market conditions to identify the future of the scheme. We will establish a process for negotiation and claim for rent deposits, which will also enable debts to be identified. We will write a DPR to make the proposed changes in relation to debt / receivables. Further Action: Ensure that an appropriate and robust debt recovery process is followed for the timely recovery of outstanding debts. Perform the initial reconciliation of the financial ledger to SAP to identify the status of debts / receivables and then subsequent quarterly reconciliations. Establish effective debt identification and recovery processes. As per management comment.

First Audit	Follow-up	Second Audit	Follow-up
April 2004	September 2005	November 2006	August 2007
Accurate Budget There was no financial provision made for irrecoverable rent and rent deposit advances due. Recommendation 9: Bad debt provision Priority 1 A bad debt provision should be set up for deposit and rent advance payments.	Implemented Bad debt provision has been set up.	Accurate Budget There was no budgetary provision for the scheme. Risk 7.1 Priority 1 Budgets Management may be unable to assess whether the scheme has met its objectives with sound financial planning.	Implementation Date: October 2007Partly implementedA budget is in place on SAP for the PST scheme. However monitoring reports are not currently run.Management comment: Monitoring reports will be produced on a quarterly basis after an initial reconciliation is carried out, as per risk 4.Further Action: Ensure that this initial reconciliation is completed and that monitoring is conducted on a quarterly basis.ProposedImplementation Date: October 2007.

First Audit April 2004	Follow-up September 2005	Second Audit November 2006	Follow-up August 2007
Accurate Accounting Records There was no process to identify and process irrecoverable rent and rent deposit advances due. Recommendation 10: Debts Written offs (Priority 1) The Private Sector Tenancy Officers should identify all those amounts, which are deemed un- collectable, and these should then be submitted to the appropriate officers for approval to write them off.	Not ImplementedManagement Comment:Bad debts will be identified oncerecommendation 7 has beenimplemented in full. Additionalbad debt may be identified oncerecommendation 8 isimplemented.Further Action:Identify un-collectable amountsfor write-off purposes and gainappropriate authorisation.Implementation Date:December 2005		
		Access ControlArrangements to control systemsaccess was inadequate.Risk 1Priority 1Password and systems accesspermissionsFraud or irregularity may not beprevented or detected.	Implemented 1. Individual log-ins and separate passwords were verified for three staff within the service. The Senior Officer keeps sealed envelopes from all team members with their log-in details in the event that access maybe

First Audit	Follow-up	Second Audit	Follow-up
April 2004	September 2005	November 2006	August 2007
		Efficient Business Processes Business processes not efficient. Risk 3 Priority 2 SAFFRON Module Loss of efficiency in service delivery from shortcomings in the system, replication of data and continuing with manual processes.	 be required in their absence. 2. Team access has been reviewed and Management have noted that all members of the team require the same level of access. 3. All team members now have read only access to the Pericles system. Not Implemented – Implementation delayed Management comment: Due to SAFFRON not being fit for purpose, a new system is to be procured. 2. A statement of requirements has been prepared for the new system and this is to be circulated to potential suppliers to see if they are able to deliver the required specification. However the procurement decision is now beyond the control of this service and has been elevated to Head

First Audit April 2004	Follow-up September 2005	Second Audit November 2006	Follow-up August 2007
			of Service / Director level.
			<u>Audit comment:</u> Whilst we note that SAFFRON is no longer in use, evidence was not seen to demonstrate achievement of business efficiency in the interim, i.e. reduction in manual processes, flagging up of cases where multiple claims are made on the housing register.
			Further Action: Ensure that adequate processes are in place to achieve business efficiency within the service in the interim / absence of use of SAFFRON.
			Proposed Implementation Date: October 2007
		Efficient and Secure Method of Payment	Partly Implemented
		Routine payments were by	Payments are made by BACS. This was verified by the

First Audit April 2004	Follow-up September 2005	Second Audit November 2006	Follow-up August 2007
		cheque not electronic. Risk 5 Priority 2 Routine payments	payments section. However reconciliations are currently not undertaken with SAP to identify duplicate payments.
		Financial loss to the Council resulting from inappropriate payments.	
			Proposed Implementation Date: October 2007.
		Delegated Authority Authority for discretionary payments not formally delegated.Risk 6Priority 2Delegation of authority Inappropriate payments and set off's leading to financial loss to the Council in the absence of formal delegation of authority and effective processes for discretionary payments and write offs.	Not Implemented Management comment: A DPR will be written, as per risk 4, to review the current scheme of delegation and to specify the authority for write-offs and discretionary payments.

First Audit April 2004	Follow-up September 2005	Second Audit November 2006	Follow-up August 2007
			ProposedImplementationDate:October 2007
		Performance Management Appropriate performance targets not set. Monitoring information either not completed or accurate. Risk 7.2 Priority 2 Targets Management may not be meeting expectations and service user's needs effectively.	Not Implemented Currently monitoring reports focus on number of rent deposits completed. A review has been completed by the service of the private sector team (PST / rent deposit scheme) and the homelessness team to identify their respective effectiveness in reducing homelessness and people in temporary accommodation. Management comment: 1.Further qualitative targets will be set based on the review undertaken of the PST and Homelessness services. A target for 'deposit outcome' will also be set once all outstanding debt has been chased up. 2.The service has not received

First Audit April 2004	Follow-up September 2005	Second Audit November 2006	Follow-up August 2007
			SP grant for the year. Further Action: Ensure that qualitative targets are identified and monitored to ensure service user needs are being met. Implementation Date:
		Declaration of Interest Process to identify and address potential conflict of interest not in place. Risk 10 Priority 1 Conflict of Interest Inappropriate dealings with the public, causing a loss to the council.	November 2007 Not Implemented <u>Management comment:</u> We will take this forward and establish a process for obtaining staff declarations in order to identify and mitigate against conflicts of interest by the end of September 2007. <u>Audit comment:</u> Audit will be happy to provide
			input on request by the service. Further Action: As per management comment, ensure that an effective process Page 15 of 16

First Audit April 2004	Follow-up September 2005	Second Audit November 2006	Follow-up August 2007
			is established for the identification and mitigation of conflict of interest.
			Proposed Implementation Date: November 2007.
Assurance Before Follow-up:	Limited	Assurance Before Follow-up:	None
Assurance After Follow-up:	None	Assurance After Follow-up:	None



AGENDA ITEM: 7	Page nos. 21-24
Meeting	Audit Committee
Date	20 September 2007
Subject	External Auditor's Report under International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260 for the year 2006/07
Report of	Deputy Director for Resources & Chief Finance Officer
Summary	To consider the detailed reports from the external auditor on matters arising from the audit of the 2006/07 accounts. This includes the pension fund accounts.
Officer Contributors	Head of Strategic Finance Finance Manager (Closing & Monitoring)
Status (public or exempt)	Public
Wards affected	Not applicable
Enclosures	ISA260 report – Statement of Accounts 2006/07 (to follow)
For decision by	Audit Committee
Function of Reason for urgency / exemption from call-in (if appropriate)	Council Not applicable

Contact for further information: Andrew Evans, Finance Manager (020 8359 7114) or Jonathan Bunt, Head of Strategic Finance (020 8359 7249)



1 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

- 1.1 That the matters raised by the external auditor relating to detailed aspects of the 2006/07 accounts, including the pension accounts, audit be noted.
- 1.2 That the officer response to matters raised by the external auditor be noted.
- 1.3 That the Committee notes that at this stage in the audit there are no adjustments identified by the External Auditor that will not be processed by officers.

2. RELEVANT PREVIOUS DECISIONS

2.1 The Statement of Accounts for 2006/07 were approved, subject to audit, by the Audit Committee on 28 June 2007 (Decision Item 9).

3. CORPORATE PRIORITIES AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

- 3.1 Review of reports made under the International Standard on Auditing (ISA)260 are an integral part of corporate governance.
- 3.2 The Corporate Plan includes an objective for a 'enhancing and further developing corporate governance' within 'More Choice, Better Value.

4 RISK MANAGEMENT ISSUES

4.1 None.

5 EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

5.1 Accurate financial reporting is important to ensure the management of resources to enable the equitable delivery of services to all members of the community and to reduce the differential impact of the services received by all of Barnet's diverse communities.

6 FINANCIAL, STAFFING, ICT AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

- 6.1 None.
- 7. LEGAL ISSUES
- 7.1 None.
- 8. CONSTITUTIONAL POWERS

8.1 Within the Council's Constitution, the functions of the Audit Committee are detailed and include "To consider the external auditor's annual letter, relevant reports and the report to those charged with governance".

9 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

- 9.1 In accordance with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260, the External Auditor is required to issue detailed reports on matters arising from the audit of the Council accounts and pension fund accounts.
- 9.2 The ISA 260 report has to be considered by "those charged with governance" before the External Auditor can sign the accounts, which has to be done by 30 September 2007.
- 9.3 The ISA 260 report contains matters raised by the auditor, his recommendations on the issues, and the management response. Any further update on these items will be given verbally at the meeting. To assist members in reviewing the external auditor's comments the Statement of Accounts 2006/07 are attached for information.

10. LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS

10.1 None

Legal: MM CFO: JB

Putting the Community First



AGENDA ITEM: 8	Page nos. 25 - 52
Meeting	Audit Committee
Date	20 September 2007
Subject	Statement on Internal Control (2006/7)
Report of	Chief Executive
Summary	Presentation of the Statement on Internal Control for consideration and approval of the above committee
Officer Contributors	Executive Director of Resources, Chief Finance Officer and Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance
Status (public or exempt)	Public
Wards affected	N/A
Enclosures	Appendix A – 2006/07 Statement on Internal Control Appendix B – Use of Resources Judgement for 2006/7 Appendix C – Risks Identified in the Corporate Plan
For decision by	Audit Committee
Function of	Council
Reason for urgency / exemption from call-in (if appropriate)	N/A

Contact for further information: Mark Burgess, Head of Corporate Services 020 8359 7014



1002-2003 mproving Urban Green Spaces ibraries as a Community Resource 1002-2004 Sommunity Cohesion

www.barnet.gov.uk

_

1. **RECOMMENDATIONS**

1.1 That the Committee approve the attached draft Statement on Internal Control (SIC) for 2006/7.

2. RELEVANT PREVIOUS DECISIONS

2.1 The Audit Committee noted the draft Statement on Internal Control for 2005 / 6 on 28th September 2006, Decision Item 9.

3. CORPORATE PRIORITIES AND POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

- 3.1 The SIC is intended to be an essential feature of good corporate governance which is required to provide assurance that the corporate priorities can be delivered.
- 3.2 The SIC covers a review of the internal controls within the Authority that support the efficient and effective management of the provision of services in support of the Corporate Plan.
- 3.3 There is a statutory requirement for the Council to publish a SIC annually as detailed in paragraph 8.1 of this report.
- 3.4 The production of the SIC supports the 'More choice, better value' priority which requires a strong and supportive governance framework.

4. **RISK MANAGEMENT ISSUES**

- 4.1 Failure to adequately comply with the statutory requirement to produce a meaningful SIC could result in the qualification of the Accounts. The SIC deals with the Council's risk management arrangements in detail.
- 4.2 Inability to produce a meaningful, accurate SIC could demonstrate weaknesses in the management assurance process.
- 4.3 Inability to demonstrate the strength in the internal control process could lead to lack of assurance that the Council is capable of achieving its corporate priorities.

5. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY

5.1 Consideration of equalities and diversity issues does not constitute part of the Statement of Internal Control and is therefore not considered in the body of this report.

6. FINANCIAL, STAFFING, ICT AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no direct financial, staffing, ICT or property implications from this document but failure to identify and address control environment weaknesses could lead to a less than optimum use of resources.

7. LEGAL ISSUES

7.1 The presentation of the Statement on Internal Control is a statutory requirement on the Council, and it must be submitted as a supporting document to the Final Accounts.

8 CONSTITUTIONAL POWERS

- 8.1 The purpose of an audit committee is to provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk management framework and the associated control environment, independent scrutiny of the authority's financial and non-financial performance to the extent that it affects the authority's exposure to risk and weakens the control environment, and to oversee the financial reporting process. (Responsibility for Functions)
- 8.2 Constitution Part 3, Section 2, includes the functions of the Audit Committee including "to oversee the production of the authority's Statement on Internal Control and recommend its adoption".

9 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

- 9.1 The London Borough of Barnet has a responsibility to ensure that its business is conducted in accordance with the law, that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for, and is used economically, efficiently and effectively.
- 9.2 In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is also responsible for ensuring that there is a sound system of internal control which facilitates effective delivery of the authority's functions and which includes monitoring compliance, providing assurance and the management of risk.
- 9.3 The Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way it delivers services, having specific regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
- 9.4 Regulation 4 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations (2003) requires audited bodies to conduct a review at least once a year of the effectiveness of its system of internal control and publish an accompanying statement on internal control with each years financial statements.
- 9.5 The purpose of the SIC process is to provide a continuous review of the effectiveness of an organisation's internal control environment and risk management systems, so as to give assurance on their effectiveness and/or to produce a management action plan to address identified weaknesses in either process. The SIC will add value to the corporate governance and internal control framework of the Council.
- 9.6 CIPFA's proper practice requires the most senior officer and the most senior Member to sign the SIC, therefore they must be satisfied that the document is supported by reliable evidence and accurately reflects the internal control environment. This emphasises that the document is about all corporate controls and is not confined to financial issues.
- 9.7 To support the above and to provide assurance to the Chief Executive and the Leader of the Council each Service Area is required to produce a SIC along side their services plans. The service plans include actions to address the significant weaknesses identified in their SIC. Each Director or Head of Service is required to provide a signed

statement covering an assessment of the strength of the control environment operating within their Service Area.

9.8 The SIC for 2006-7 is attached at appendix A to this report. The statement is in its final draft, having been consulted upon by senior officers and external audit. It is envisaged that this will be signed off by the Chief Executive and Leader by the end of September 2007.

10 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS

- 10.1 2006/7 Statement of Accounts
 2006/7 Statement on Internal Control
 Internal Audit and Ethical Governance Annual Report 2006/7
 External Auditor's reports carried out between 2005/6 and 2006/7
- 10.2 Any person wishing to inspect the background papers should telephone 020 8359 7014.

Legal: MM CFO: CM

Appendix A - 2006 / 07 Statement on Internal Control

INTRODUCTION

In compliance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003 the Authority is required to provide a publication of a SIC with the annual financial statements.

Although it is published with the annual financial statements the SIC is a broad reflection of the whole governance of the Council, and sets out the controls in place that are designed to ensure:-

- the Council's policies are put into practice and that values are met;
- laws and regulations are complied with;
- required processes are adhered to;
- financial statements and other published information are accurate and reliable;
- human, financial and other resources are managed efficiently and effectively, and
- services are delivered efficiently and effectively.

After its approval by the Council, the SIC will be signed by the Leader of the Council and the Chief Executive, indicating the acceptance of the SIC by the Council.

In considering whether to approve the SIC, each Head of Service or Director has been asked to produce, and sign, a mini-SIC covering their area of responsibility focussing on the above criteria.

The process of creating the mini-SIC required all Directors to complete a comprehensive review of the controls within their own Service Area. During the process of review any areas of weakness need to be recorded and corrective action embedded in the coming year service delivery plan. It is made clear to all Directors that any statements made in the mini SIC must be evidenced and open to scrutiny. The mini SIC provides documented, relevant and reliable evidence to support the disclosures made. The mini SIC process requires all Directors to demonstrate that they have strong and robust processes and procedures to cover the following areas of a control environment;

- An executive summary of their control environment;
- A description of the core services provided;
- A review of the arrangements in place to manager contractual partnerships;
- The process used to monitor the performance of contractual partners;
- Identification of the IT systems used in delivering services;
- A description of the financial controls in place to manage their resources;
- Confirmation that an appropriate and effective scheme of delegation exists;
- A description of the overall control environment that exists within the Service;
- A statement on compliance with corporate policies and procedures;
- A statement on assurance that an appropriate risk management framework exists;
- Identification of key risks that have had an affect on service delivery, and
- A statement on assurance and understanding of the importance of the SIC

Internal Audit and Ethical Governance then use the mini-SICs to inform the audit programme and to become a key document in any coming audits of Service Areas.

Further consideration of the accuracy of the statements is made in the SIC have been conducted by key officers within the Council, including (but not exclusively) the Chief Financial Officer, and Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance.

This process is further evidenced by an Internal Control Checklist process which seeks assurance from line management of the effectiveness of the control environment operating across the Council, seeking to identify weaknesses in the processes and procedures that manage governance and control.

The process requires line managers to complete a survey of their own control environments that supports the areas of their responsibility. The survey asks line managers to consider all aspects of a good control environment by asking them to consider the following areas;

- Risk management
- Performance management
- Budget management
- Financial management
- Governance requirements
- Human resource management
- Procurement and contract management
- Information management
- Project management
- Partnership arrangements
- Business continuity planning, and
- Audit awareness.

It is made clear to line managers that any statements made must be substantiated with evidence and open to possible scrutiny.

Any areas of weakness are then documented and supported by either a Corporate Improvement Plan where the weakness is common across all services, or by a Team Improvement Plan where the weakness is specific to individual Departments.

2006/07 SIC

The SIC is divided into five sections, as follows:-

- Section 1 Scope of Responsibility.
- Section 2 Purpose of the System of Internal Control.
- Section 3 Internal Control Environment.
- Section 4 Review of Effectiveness.
- Section 5 Significant Internal Control Issues.
- Section 6 Sources of assurance

Guidance on the production of a SIC has been gained from publications by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy and our External Auditors, Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Section 1 – Scope of Responsibility

The Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for,

and used efficiently, economically and effectively in providing value for money services to its residents.

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Council is also responsible for ensuring that there is a sound system of internal control which facilitates effective delivery of the authority's functions and which includes monitoring compliance, providing assurance and the management of risk.

The Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way it delivers services, having specific regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

Regulation 4 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations (2003) requires audited bodies to conduct a review at least once a year of the effectiveness of its system of internal control and publish an accompanying SIC with each years financial statements.

CIPFA's proper practice requires the most senior officer and the most senior Member to sign the SIC, therefore they must be satisfied that the document is supported by reliable evidence and accurately reflects the internal control environment. This emphasises that the document is about all corporate controls and is not confined to financial issues.

Section 2 – Purpose of the System of Internal Control

The purpose of the SIC process is to provide a continuous review of the effectiveness of an organisation's internal control environment and risk management systems, so as to give assurance on their effectiveness and/or to produce a management action plan to address identified weaknesses in either process. The Statement on Internal Control will add value to the corporate governance and internal control framework of the Council.

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Council policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

Section 3 – Internal Control Environment

The key elements of the internal control environment are set out below.

A. Corporate Priorities

The Council's corporate priorities are set out in the Corporate Plan 2007-2010. The Corporate Plan sets out the Council's vision for the organisation. It affirms the values and aspirations of Barnet for the place, the people and the organisations. The corporate priorities are clearly defined in the Corporate Plan which demonstrates how we will get to where we want to go over the next four years and it looks back at our progress to date.

These are cascaded through Service Plans and targets for service teams and individuals.

Monitoring is via the FirstStat process, Finance and Performance Review meetings, Member Challenge.

B. Policy and Decision Making

The Local Government Act 2000 and secondary legislation specify the local authority functions that are the distinct and quite separate responsibility of the Council and the Executive. Neither body can become involved with taking decisions on the functions of the other, with certain exceptions referred to below. The Act permits no other bodies in the formal decision-making structure other than those described below.

- 1. Council Functions.
- 2. Executive Functions.
- 3. Urgent and Emergency Decisions.
- 4. Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

The responsibilities of the above functions and their authorisations for decision making are clearly identified in the Council's Constitution. The Council's Constitution is reviewed annually by the Special Committee (Constitution Review) and recommendations are submitted to Council for consideration.

A record of the Special Committee (Constitution Review) with recommendations made can be found on the Council's record system COGNITE.

C. Compliance

Assurance on compliance with policies, procedures, laws and regulations is provided, in part, by Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance, which conducts risk based audits on the highest risk areas. Other sources of assurance on compliance come from external audit, other external inspectors (e.g. OFSTED, CSCI) and from service management's own internal control arrangements.

D. Risk Management

There has been continuous improvement in the arrangements for risk management in 2006-7, with further development of embedding risks management across the Council, thereby providing the basis for effective risk management policies and procedures.

Internal Audit continue to review and report on risk management arrangements in their interim and annual reports, and provide a statement on the adequacy of risk management arrangements across the Council.

The Finance and Performance Review (F&PR) process continues to review high level risks whilst encompassing close monitoring of service delivery performance, performance against budgets and budget reduction targets thus minimising the chances of unachievable savings being incorporated in the budget.

All committee reports include a section on risks, which contributes to Members being better informed prior to deciding on policy and decision making. This also raises the awareness and increases Member and Officer understanding of risk and the risk management process.

A comprehensive Corporate Risk Register exists, providing clarity and ownership of those potential risks that may have a direct impact to the corporate priorities. Each risk within the Corporate Risk Register is owned by a member of the Executive Management team who are required to monitor the risk and provide regular updates to the Corporate Risk Management team. Progress on the management of these risks and the inclusion of new corporate risks is discussed and agreed at Directors Group.

Risk management forums are now arranged between Corporate Risk Management and Service Area Performance Officers, who are responsible for risk management processes within their service areas. The forum allows for a two way communication process covering the continued effectiveness of the risk management processes within the Council, and allows an opportunity for continuous improvement in the risk management process and procedures used across the Council.

The risk management strategy, guidelines, standard risk register have been reviewed, updated and made available on the Corporate intranet. All three documents were presented and accepted by Council in March 2007. The revised documents formed part of an agenda item for discussion at the risk management forum.

As part of the annual budget and Council Tax setting, the Chief Finance Officer identifies the potential financial risks and contingent liabilities facing the authority in reaching his view on the adequacy of balances. These risks are captured and monitored in a comprehensive financial risk register which also tracks the mitigating actions required to minimise the likely impact on the Council.

The financial risk register is owned by the Chief Finance Officer and forms part of the regular financial monitoring programme to Cabinet Resources Committee.

E. Use of Resources

Effective and efficient use of resources is achieved through a range of review processes linked to the annual service planning cycle. These include:

The 'Better Use of Resources' project, established in November 2005, was successful in its initial ambition of raising the Council's rating to level 3 and the project board has continued to meet throughout 2006/07 as it has demonstrated to be an effective mechanism for driving corporate improvement. Amongst the many improvements implemented to ensure an effective and efficient use of resources have been:

Accessible information – development of mechanisms, such as summary Statement of Accounts and an annual report which fully integrates the review of finance and performance, which enable the Council's stakeholders to receive information on the performance of the authority in a more accessible way than through the documents required by statute.

FirstStat and Finance and Performance Review (F&PR) - both processes have been developed to monitor business performance (including financial performance). FirstStat and F&PR are led by the Lead Member for Policy and Performance and the Executive Director for Resources and undertaken on an in-year rolling basis as well as in reviewing and setting the forward financial plan.

Best Value reviews - conducted across a range of Council services in accordance with corporate priorities and in meeting legislative requirements. Business and service planning is well established and constantly reviewed by the Budget Board. Although it is no longer a statutory requirements for Local Authorities to carry out Best Value Reviews the council's Business Improvement team is delivering an annual programme of Value for Money Reviews.

Value for Money reviews – Council Directors Group have agreed a process for delivery of the Value for Money reviews which are underway. The significance of an effective Value for Money review programme and its impact on Use of Resources has been recognised to the extent that the Chief Executive is sponsoring the 2007/8 programme. The Value for Money process considers a wide range of elements including performance and efficiency, total cost of ownership, and customer satisfaction. The reviews intend to deliver sustainable service delivery solutions which support the achievement of corporate priorities.

Member challenge - a rolling programme of finance and performance challenge is undertaken by the Leader.

Procurement - the Corporate Procurement Team provides advisory and support services on all corporate procurement activity to ensure value for money and compliance with procurement legislation. The Contract Procedure Rules and Procurement Code of Practice are essential policies that ensure the Council's procurement activities conform with the legislative requirements and demonstrate value for money. Both documents are regularly reviewed and published on the Corporate intranet providing ease of access to those in the Council performing procurement responsibilities.

Internal Audit and Ethical Governance – Internal Audit reviews consider the use of resources as part of the scoping exercise for each audit.

F. Financial Management

Financial management of the authority is organised through a wide range of processes and procedures which have been improved to deliver stronger financial control arrangements. Central to this are the Financial Regulations, which form part of the Council's constitution.

Corporate financial control is also exercised through targeted Finance and Performance Review meetings, challenge meetings for Heads of Service led by the Cabinet Members for Resources and Policy & Performance in addition to financial monitoring reports to every meeting of Cabinet Resources Committee.

Beyond this there are individual schemes of control for specific areas, e.g. Treasury Management Strategy.

There have been a wide range of improvements and areas of progress during 2006/07 including:-

- Approval of the Council's first, formal Medium Term Financial Strategy.
- Further embedding and development of the financial modules of SAP which has significantly enhanced the control environment for the core financial systems.
- The Statement of Accounts for 2005/06 were approved and the subsequent audit was completed with an unqualified audit opinion.
- A full review of the processes, procedures and guidance for both finance and non finance staff following the MCS implementation has been completed.
- All budget managers have been trained on SAP to enable them to take full responsibility for their budgets.
- Revenue balances have increased to over £12m with further earmarked reserves of the same order of magnitude giving the authority much greater financial flexibility and scope to manage risks.
- Development of the identification, quantification and monitoring of financial risks and contingent liabilities facing the Council.
- Embedding of the officer Budget Board as a mechanism to enhance corporate ownership of the forward planning process and to provide a clear mechanism for robust officer level challenge to service proposals.
- Establishment of the revised finance service within the Resources restructure to provide both support to front line services and clear strategic direction.
- Development of the officer Budget Steering Group and embedding of the officer Capital & Assets Group to ensure that available resources are directed to corporate priorities and away from non priority areas.

- Enhancement of the corporate financial monitoring report by combining revenue and capital monitors into a single document and through the inclusion of sections on the prudential indicators, debt management, collection rates and creditor payments performance.
- Complete update of the Council's financial regulations and contracting standing orders.

Further planned work to build on the progress and success already achieved includes:

- Introduction of a formal debt management policy to cover all monies owed to the Council.
- Further development of the wider corporate financial monitoring framework to enhance existing sections and incorporate cash flow, financial risks, insurance, section 106 and pensions.

G. Performance Management

The Corporate Plan is the single improvement document for the authority. It contains all the key priorities and indicators by which achievement against corporate goals are measured.

Progress against targets is monitored through a corporate performance management system based on regular meetings (FirstStat, Finance and Performance Review), regular data collection (monthly or quarterly returns from service areas) and Member challenge (Overview and Scrutiny) as well as by the Cabinet Member for Policy and Performance.

Replacement of Performance Management Plans (PMPs) with Key Priority Plans (KPPs) has ensured shared ownership across themed services for the delivery of key objectives. This has embedded a collaborative system based on robust data.

H. Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs)

The Corporate Performance Office will continue to assist services to review and improve the data gathering and reporting processes around BVPIs to ensure that the identified weaknesses are effectively addressed. This year's pre-audit review process has been streamlined and all data trail evidence is being gathered electronically. Current procedures ensure formal sign off actions at the appropriate level (Head of Service) for BVPI data.

The Corporate Plan 2006/7 - 2009/10 reviews the performance of Barnet Council over the last twelve months and sets out the priorities and targets for service improvement over the next three years.

FirstStat monitors are priority based and monitor our performance against the Corporate Plan. Data is collected quarterly and the deadline is 17th of the month after the end of each quarter. The Business Improvement Team in the Corporate Performance Office (CPO) collects data from services for the Quarterly Performance Monitoring Tables (known as FirstStat monitors) and Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs).

The information presented in the monitoring tables is assessed by the Corporate Performance Office and Heads of Service to provide a traffic light rating on performance for each key measure linked to service objectives.

This information is then reported quarterly to Scrutiny Committees, to Finance & Performance Review meetings (F&PR), and placed on the intranet.

Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs) are collated annually in mid May. A new electronic audit sheet was introduced this year to aid the effective validation of BVPI performance data.

BVPIs are reported in the Corporate Plan technical appendix and published by the 30th of June each year.

Services must ensure that the systems are in place to collect quarterly monitoring tables and BVPI performance data all year round. It is the service's responsibility to ensure;

- the accuracy of the data provided
- > the existence of detailed audit/management trails supporting this data
- that data is robust

Robust challenge and scrutiny through strengthened corporate governance (FirstStat, F&PR) has resulted in improving data quality, and performance improvement and a greater awareness, and ownership, of corporate and service priorities. The improvement in the Council's data quality has been formally recognised and reported on in the Annual Joint Audit and Inspection Letter 2005/06.

Section 4 – Review of Effectiveness

The Council has a responsibility to conduct, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. This review is informed by the work of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance, which reviews the development, maintenance and implementation of internal control across the Council.

The Internal Control Checklist process also informs the review by providing an overview of the effective and efficient nature of the control environment as experienced by Line Managers across the Council. The process required Line Managers from all services to assess the strengths and weaknesses of their own internal controls covering the following areas;

General Risk Management	Performance Management	Legislation
Financial Management	Human Resources	Partnerships
Procurement & contracts	Information Technology	Audits
Project Management	Business Continuity Plans	

From the data collected, evidence was gathered that supports the effectiveness of the control environment. Where weaknesses were identified, continuous improvement plans are being developed to ensure actions and responsibilities are identified to strengthen the control environment.

The Internal Control Checklist process is now a key risk management tool which is conducted annually with reviews on progress of the Continuous Improvement Plans conducted through out the year.

Partnership management

The success of the Council rests on its' leadership role in bringing together all partners including other public services, the voluntary and community sector and the business community.

This work is co-ordinated through the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP). An Executive, chaired by the Leader of the Council, brings together the most senior leaders from the main agencies that deliver public services in the Council, and the Council has recruited a Community Steering Group, which represents the consumers of public services in Barnet and

advises the Executive. The Council also holds a Civic Network twice a year to bring together the widest range of organisations in Barnet to help shape future strategy.

Barnet's Sustainable Community Strategy, 'Barnet: A First Class Suburb', was launched on 1 April 2006 following extensive analysis of the issues facing Barnet and residents' priorities. It sets out a shared vision for Barnet in 2016 and contains four themes:

Investing in children and young people; Safer, stronger, and cleaner Barnet; Growing successfully; Healthier Barnet (including older people).

Each of these is supported by more detailed ambitions and an Action Plan of activities that will make a real impact on these priorities is updated annually and overseen by the LSP.

There are key partnership arrangements in the following areas, each have their own risk management and internal control processes that monitor and manage efficient and effective delivery;

1. Primary Schools Capital Investment Programme (PSCIP)

The Primary School Capital Investment Programme is at the procurement stage. The programme is procuring a strategic partner through the competitive dialogue process to take responsibility for the design and build of up to 9 primary schools. A programme board is in place with responsibility for delivery. A Programme Director manages activities on a day to day basis.

The council will establish a strategic partnering agreement with the selected contractor and will manage the individual builds through specific JCT design and build contracts for each school in the programme. It should be noted that at this stage of procurement there are dialogue meetings with three participating bidders to develop the contracts. We expect to select the successful contractor in April 2008 at which time the strategic partnering agreement will be signed.

The PSCIP Programme Board is responsible for the strategic direction of the programme and provides leadership to the Programme Team on any strategic or corporate issues arising. The Programme Board meets every 6 weeks and receives reports on the progress of the programme from the Programme Director who attends. The Director of Social Affairs and Deputy Chief Executive chairs the Board.

The risk management process is robust and is a continual process. The risk register is updated when appropriate and the High risks are reported to programme board every 6 weeks, and the full risk register is reported every quarter. The risk management group meets every quarter to update and scrutinise the register prior to the programme board. The risk management group lead ensures the owners of each risk take responsibility for their risk.

The revenue costs for the programme are forecasted up to the end of Stage 3 (procurement stage) and costs are monitored against this. This is updated monthly.

2. Private Finance Initiative (PFI) - Street Lighting

PFI contracts differ from the traditional type of contract as the Service Provider takes on additional responsibilities and risks. The contract documentation is output based with the authority identifying the required lighting standards for each road and the required response times in dealing with defects, contract management, administration and correspondence. It is for the Service Provider to identifying how he will achieve the outputs by a series of method statements which are contractual. Traditionally the Authority would have specified methods, materials and outcomes and been involved in design, consultation and correspondence.

The authority role is to act purely as a monitor of performance against agreed contract requirements. The monitoring team consists of a senior Engineer, two clerks of Works and a Technical Admin Officer as well as a contract lead who is the Highways Manager – Network Management.

The Service Provider is responsible for designing the lighting schemes for each road included in the Corporate Investment Programme (CIP). All designs are submitted to the authority for comment prior to the commencement of a consultation process with residents and ward members. Where the Service Provider can not comply with the required lighting standards they should apply for a Design Variation Approval from the authority prior to commencing consultation. In order for the authorities monitoring team to supply comments and/or approvals the Service Provider must provide adequate supporting design calculations and documentation.

The CIP includes for approximately 20,000 new lighting columns (replacement of 67% of the stock) to be designed and installed within the 5 year CIP programme. The first year programme includes the installation of approximately 2,707 new columns. The programme incorporates a number of milestones which must be met to avoid Default Termination Points (DPT) accruing. If the contractor accrues three DTP's the authority may terminate the contract due to non-performance.

Following installation of the new columns an independent certifier check that the installation complies with the contract requirements (inspection includes a 90 item checklist) and assuming he is satisfied that compliance has been achieved the certified columns count towards the milestone.

There is a requirement for the contractor to inspect all Apparatus on a weekly basis to check for defects. Where defects have been identified these should be rectified within specific timescales depending on the type of defect.

The Service Provider is required to provide and maintain a Management Information System (MIS) and a Customer Care System in order to assist with the management of the contract and to hold records of all aspects of activity covered by the contract.

The MIS is a specialist street lighting IT package which holds a full inventory of all the items of apparatus which are the subject of the contract. The system incorporates mapping of all apparatus and provides detailed information on the description of each item of apparatus. The record information relating to each item of apparatus consist of up to 250 data sets. Prior to service commencement the authority provided the Service Provider with its MIS data which should have formed the basis of the initial data held by the Service Provider. The Service Provider has been given one year to check the data for accuracy and to update the data as necessary to ensure that the data sets achieve 99% accuracy and are maintained at this level for the duration of the contract.

Due to the importance of maintaining an accurate MIS the contract requires the Service Provider to update the data sets within specific timescales and there are tests to ensure that the data entered is accurate. The Authority monitors the MIS on a daily basis to ensure that defects are logged, that response periods are identified are in accordance with contract requirements and that they have been completed and updated on time and with the correct information.

A Customer Care System (CCS) is also in place to record all correspondence and responses by the contractor. The authority monitoring team have read access to this system and can monitor how correspondence is being handled.

The Service Provider is required to provide a Monitoring Report and a Payment Report at the end of each month. The Monitoring Report should identify the performance related to all aspects of the contract during the previous month and this information is used to determine the payments which should be due to the Service Provider for that month. The contract sets out the detail of information which the Service Provider should include in the Monitoring Report. The MIS data is interrogated to provide the reporting data.

The Payment Report identifies the payments due to the contractor and this is identified by feeding the monitoring data into a Payment Mechanism. The Payment Mechanism is aligned with performance targets set out in the Output Specification. Where the service performance is identified as not meeting the specification, adjustments are applied to the payments which would have been due to the Service Provider. Where the performance is particularly bad a service Default Termination Point will accrue and when the adjustment level is at or above 25% of the monthly payment sum (assuming full compliance) a Default Termination Point accrues.

As well as the monthly monitoring reports and meetings further regular meetings are held to discuss and resolve issues relating to designs, communication and working practices.

A Project Board exists consisting of senior members of the Authority and Contractor which meets quarterly to discuss issues and attempt to find suitable guidance and solutions to operational managers.

The Director of Environment and Transport has also been keeping a close watching brief on the performance of the contract and as and when it has been considered necessary has met with the contractors Chief Executive to demand improvements and action plans for improvement.

3. Regeneration projects

The approach to the management of risk within major regeneration projects follows the general principle of risk transfer.

In all of the schemes the major component is a land/asset transaction which when developed delivers a comprehensive scheme and the regeneration impact. The land/asset is owned by the Council and its immediate financial risks are to secure best consideration for this asset.

The Council uses a Principle Development Agreement as a vehicle to address delivery and risk. The principle of these agreements is that the Developer partner has responsibility for the development, financing and delivery of these schemes along with associated risk and risk management issues.

Specific risks within each project where the Council could be exposed to a financial penalty or other detriment (such as failure to transfer land at an agreed point in time with the necessary free of ties) will be addressed in specific programme risk registers when these programmes have been agreed with developers.

Until such time a number of high level strategic risks remain for the Council, such as delays and loss of reputation to the Council. These are covered in the Strategic Development Unit risk register.

Internal and External Audit Arrangements

The external auditors rely on the work of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance for their review of key financial systems and undertake selective reviews of internal control not included within the scope of internal audit. Other inspectorates also examine internal control as part of their work. The process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control is set out below.

Council

The constitution is reviewed annually by the Special Constitution (Review Committee), informed by an Officer Constitution Group. Recommendations of the Committee are reported to the Council for ratification.

Executive

Cabinet bi-annually reviews progress on key corporate risks.

The Leader of the Council has risk management in their portfolio.

All committee reports include a section on risk.

The Audit Committee conducts an annual review of the budget process. In addition it reviews the Internal Audit and Ethical Governance Annual and Interim Annual Reports and the Annual (External) Audit and Inspection Letter, in addition to other key reports from Internal and External Audit during the year.

The Cabinet Overview and Scrutiny Committee is able (except where decisions are exempt from call-in) to review all Cabinet decisions, which happens infrequently and only when necessary. These are automatically placed on the Committee's agenda and not implemented until after the Committee has met, and can call-in any decision taken by the Cabinet Committee or a Cabinet Member. This exceeds the statutory requirement to have arrangements for calling-in Key Decisions.

Audit Committee

The purpose of an Audit Committee is to provide independent assurance of the adequacy of the risk management framework and the associated control environment, independent scrutiny of the authority's financial and non-financial performance to the extent that it affects the authority's exposure to risk and weakens the control environment, and to oversee the financial reporting process.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee were as follows:

Audit Activity

- 1. To consider the Head of Internal Audit's annual report and opinion, and a summary of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance it can give over the Council's corporate governance arrangements.
- 2. To consider summaries of specific internal audit reports as requested.
- 3. To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of the providers of internal audit services.
- 4. To consider a report from internal audit on agreed recommendations not implemented within a reasonable timescale.
- 5. To consider the external auditor's annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to those charged with governance.
- 6. To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor.
- 7. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives value for money.
- 8. To liaise with the Audit Commission over the appointment of the Council's external auditors.
- 9. To commission work from the internal and external audit.

Regulatory Framework

- 10. To maintain an overview of the Council's constitution in respect of contract procedure rules and financial regulations.
- 11. To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or a Director, or any Council body.
- 12. To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and corporate governance in the Council.
- 13. To monitor Council policies on 'Raising Concerns at Work' and the anti-fraud and anti-corruption strategy and the Council's complaints process.
- 14. To oversee the production of the authority's SIC and to recommend its adoption.
- 15. To consider the Council's compliance with its own and other published standards and controls.

Accounts

16. To review and approve the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of the Council.

17. To consider the external auditor's report to those charged with governance on issues arising from the audit of the accounts.

Review of Effectiveness

18. To conduct an annual review of the effectiveness of the Audit Committee.

• Internal Audit and Ethical Governance

The Council's Internal Audit and Ethical Governance Service is provided predominantly by an in-house team supplemented by two external partners as follows:-

ENPEYZ, who undertake all school audits and external assessment of Financial Management Standards in Schools.

Deloitte and Touche, who provide between 150 and 250 days risk based systems and follow-up audits a year.

All audit work is undertaken to the standards of the Institute of Internal Auditors and the CIPFA Code of Practice.

An annual audit plan is produced by the Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance, in consultation with key stakeholders, based on a risk analysis of all of the Council's auditable systems. In addition, the risks in each system are reviewed by the relevant Head of Service prior to the commencement of every audit review. The audit plan is agreed with our external auditors prior to finalisation to ensure that that plans are co-ordinated to add maximum value and avoid any duplication.

At the conclusion of each audit the audit findings and risks are discussed with the appropriate head of service and an action plan is agreed. There is a follow-up review of every internal audit to ascertain progress being made by the Head of Service in addressing the agreed action plan. The Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance publish an annual report to the Management Board and Audit Committee.

The Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance is a Chief Officer of the Council, with a reporting line to the Director of Corporate Governance. The Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance also reports to the Audit Committee on the following matters:-

- annual audit plan.
- regular progress reports on key findings and progress against the annual audit plan.
- annual report providing a final position on progress against the annual audit plan, a summary of all internal audit reviews completed, and an independent opinion of the Head of Internal Audit and Ethical Governance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the overall control environment.

Section 5 – Significant Internal Control Issues

When preparing the 2006/7 SIC, all significant risks that may impact on the Council's Corporate Objectives have been identified and actions required to mitigate these risks have been addressed.

An assessment of three key areas were conducted to identify the key risks to the authority. The three areas were

- A. Use of Resources Judgement for 2005 / 6.
- B. Risks identified in the Corporate Plan.

C. Weaknesses identified in the Internal Control Checklist process.

A. Use of Resources Judgement for 2006/7 (See Appendix B for details)

The use of resources judgement assess how well LB Barnet manage and use their financial resources. The assessment focuses on the importance of having sound and strategic financial management to ensure that resources are available to support the Council's priorities and improve services.

The key issues where they felt the Council needed to strengthen its arrangements in 2007 were:

- Having comprehensive working papers available at the start of the audit.
- The level of non trivial errors within the Statement of Accounts.
- The arrangements around partnerships.
- Financial management arrangements.
- The management and monitoring of debt management.
- Procedure notes for key systems.
- o Demonstration of Value for Money outcomes.

Further detail can be found in the "Use of Resources Judgements 2006" document which is summarised in appendix B.

B. Risks Identified in the Corporate Plan (See Appendix B for details)

The Corporate Plan 2007 - 2010 identified the following areas where key risks to achieving the Corporate Priorities are contained within them.

C. Weaknesses identified in the Internal Control Checklist process

An analysis of the results from the Internal Control Checklist process has identified a number of areas across the Council which are considered as "Corporate " issues.

i. Audit Awareness -

Need to raise the awareness across all Line Managers of the annual Internal Audit programme and the priority recommendations that are published at the conclusion of an audit.

ii. Risk management responsibilities -

Manager responsibilities for managing risk is clearly stated in the risk management strategy document but not all job descriptions include risk management as a core responsibility of managers in LB Barnet. Need to discuss including a standard core responsibility into all line manager and above job descriptions.

iii. Recording partnership arrangements in the Corporate Partnership Register -

Need to raise awareness of the Corporate Partnership Register and ensure all Line Managers are aware of and complying with the instruction to record all partnership arrangements held with LB Barnet.

iv. Business Continuity in general -

The Council recognised the need to improve its business continuity planning and has engaged external consultants to work with managers

and staff to provide an injection of qualified and specialist support to address the most urgent needs but also to make recommendations about the longer term investment in business continuity.

The brief provides for the consultants to:

- Assess Barnet's current Business Continuity Management (BCM) policies and plans and identify shortfalls.
- Develop a Business Continuity Management action plan to ensure Barnet meets minimum Business Continuity Management standards.
- Provide support to develop the Impact Assessment methodology and to complete these to an acceptable professional standard.
- To identify and work with 'champions' in service areas to complete Business Continuity Management Plans.
- Consider longer term action and future planning for the delivery of business continuity to ensure it is fit for purpose.

The detailed action plan with milestones and responsibilities is attached and these are summarised below.

- a. The nine 'risks' identified by Internal Audit are used as the starting point to develop and implement a comprehensive BCM programme for the borough.
- b. The proposed action plan should be considered by internal audit before a final report is issued.
- c. Some of the timescales set to deliver Priority 1 risks within 3 months, and Priority 2 risks within 6 months should be re-considered.
- d. Some of the draft audit report issues should be re-prioritised.
- e. Embedding BCM should be a continuous process and should therefore not be prioritised in the audit risk summary and is likely to be the responsibility of an internal, dedicated resource.
- f. The first step in Barnet's effective BCM programme development is to agree an action plan which plugs the immediate critical gaps.
- g. A further action plan which outlines the actions required in the in the medium to long term should be developed and agreed.
- h. It is recommended that a new Business Impact Assessment (BIA) template is developed through a fully facilitated BIA process across all service areas to quality assure existing BIA data and to fill in the BIA gaps.
- i. The BIA data should be interpreted into actions within BCM plans.
- j. A process similar to that which was used to develop the council's risk assessments should be considered for developing BCM plans.

k. LB Barnet employs a full time, permanent, Business Continuity Officer to work in the corporate team.

Section 6 – Sources of assurance

A. Internal Audit and Ethical Governance annual report 2006/7

The most recurring areas of control weakness across the Council identified in the 2006/7 Internal Audit & Ethical Governance annual report are:

- Resources not used economically or effectively
- Either no or inadequate policies and procedures

Findings in this area do not necessarily mean that policies and/or procedures do not exist but that improvements or additions to existing policies and/or procedures may be required. The generic risks that result from these omissions include potentially: lack of consistency; standards not being set, understood or complied with; loss of knowledge due to staff changes; increased training time for new staff.

• Inadequate monitoring controls over resources

The generic risks that result from these omissions include potentially: failure to achieve optimum benefit from resources; management unaware of misuse of resources or potential adverse budget circumstances.

Management action to address weaknesses has been agreed and recorded in the respective reports, which, if implemented, will improve the overall control environment.

17% of risks were assessed by internal audit as 'Priority 1', signifying that there was a 'significant risk that either objectives will not be met efficiently and effectively or that fraud or irregularity is unlikely to be prevented or detected'.

78% of risks were 'Priority 2', signifying 'only limited assurance that objectives will be met efficiently and effectively or that fraud or irregularity will be prevented or detected'.

All Internal Audit work is followed up as a matter of course. The annual report provides summaries of the findings at follow-up audits. Follow-ups indicate how the level of audit assurance has changed as a result of management implementation of agreed actions. Details of the assurance revisions on the 26 follow-ups conducted in the report period are detailed below.

Analysis of Assurance Levels on Follow-up	No.
Limited assurance still limited assurance	5
Satisfactory assurance to limited assurance	1
No or limited assurance to satisfactory	12
Satisfactory assurance still satisfactory assurance	6
Satisfactory assurance to full assurance	2
Total	26

B. External Audit Reports 2006/7

External Audit play a significant role in maintaining the control environment within the London Borough of Barnet through continuous assessments of the processes and procedures that contribute towards it.

In 2006/7, external audit issued reports on the following:

MCS Phase 2 Review.	BVPI/Data Quality report
Use of resources	Annual Audit Letter 2005/06
Barnet IT/IS Infrastructure Review	Grants report

These reports have been agreed by the Council and management action has resulted from any identified weaknesses. The Audit Committee is responsible for receipt of external audit report and ensures that recommendations are followed up and monitored until satisfactory completion.

Whilst each report contained a number of recommendations, it was not viewed that any of these recommendations contained a significant weakness to the Council's Internal Control Environment.

C. CPA assessment by the Audit Commission.

The Audit Commission assess all Councils nationally, and judged Barnet to be a Council that is improving well and demonstrating 3 star overall performance.

The assessment is based on a number of inspections including:

Inspections of individual services

Service area	2006
Benefits - The Council's performance in providing housing and Council tax benefit services. The assessment is made by the Benefit Fraud Inspectorate and is based on achievement against housing benefits/Council tax benefits performance standards.	3
Children and young people - Barnet's performance in providing children's services, such as children's education and social care. The joint assessment is made by the Commission for Social Care Inspection and Ofsted following a review of the Council's overall performance and key indicators.	3
Culture – The Council's performance in services, such as libraries and leisure, as assessed by the Audit Commission.	3
Environment - Barnet's performance in services, such as transport, planning and waste.	3
Housing – The Council's performance in community housing and housing management services.	2
Social care (adults) - The Council's performance in adult social care services. The assessment is made by the Commission for Social Care Inspection following a review of the Council's overall performance and key indicators.	2

- A Corporate Assessment of how the Council is run, which considers what the Council, together with its partners, is trying to achieve. The Council received a '3' (performing well) in this assessment which was conducted in June 2006.
- A Use of Resources judgement from the Audit Commission, which assesses how well local authorities manage their finances and provide value or money. The Council received a 3 (performing well) which was an improvement on our previous standing. (See Appendix B for further details)
- Capacity is increasing and the organisation continues to modernise. There are no significant failures in corporate governance that would prevent sustained improvement.

SIC 2006-7

The process used to create the SIC ensures that all services effectively contribute to the assurance assessment and continuous improvements to the control environment. This provides further assurance on the effectiveness of the Councils ability to achieve its commitment to ensure;

- laws and regulations are complied with
- required processes are adhered to
- financial statements and other published information are accurate and reliable
- human, financial and other resources are managed efficiently and effectively
- services are delivered efficiently and effectively

The processes mentioned within this report have provided input into the annual statement prepared on behalf of the Chief Executive and Leader for the Annual Accounts, and will provide supporting documentation for internal and external scrutiny.

Leo Boland Chief Executive Mike Freer Leader of the Council

Appendix B - Use of Resources Judgement for 2006/7

The areas where the External Auditor felt the Council needed to strengthen arrangements in 2006/07 were:

1. Comprehensive working papers available at the start of the audit:

The Council was required to provide comprehensive working papers to support the statement of accounts at the start of the final accounts audit and to the standard specified by the auditor.

Whilst an improvement in the standard, layout and overall administrative arrangements for the working papers was noted by the external auditor, there remained gaps in the quality and existence of all requests outlined in the arrangements letter. The external auditor exercise discretion in their view that this should not prevent the Council achieving level 3 in the 2006 assessment but there are a number of areas where improvement is required for this to be maintained, the most significant of which were:

- Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
- Collection Fund
- Cash reconciliations, particularly those relating to schools

Action Taken

Ahead of and as part of the 2006/07 closure process, the following actions were taken:

- Detailed guidance provided to finance staff and budget managers on the requirements and timeliness of working papers.
- Standard template for the production of working papers was designed and distributed for all finance teams.
- Additional capacity created as part of the Resources restructure to enable an independent monitoring and review of working papers separate from the accounts closure team to ensure they are of sufficient quality.

2. Non trivial errors:

A number of non-trivial errors were found over the course of final accounts audit which, whilst they did not have an impact on Council balances, were material to the individual classes of assets and liabilities and covered a number of accounts. As there was no impact on the consolidated revenue account, the external auditor exercised discretion in awarding level 3 but this is an area that requires improvement for the score to maintained or improved in the future.

Action Taken

As part of the 2006/07 closure process, the following actions were taken:

- Analytical review of the major balances sheet categories to identify potential errors
- Additional capacity created as part of the Resources restructure to enable an independent monitoring and review of working papers separate from the accounts closure team that can review the accuracy of submitted papers

3. Partnerships:

The external auditor noted the progress the Council made in 2006/07 on partnerships but commented this was unlikely to be sufficient for future years when further assessment criteria become mandatory. It was recommended that the Council focuses attention on:

- Which partnerships are considered key
- Evidencing that sufficient governance relationships are in place

Action Taken

Through 2006/07 the following actions were taken and improvements achieved:

- Completion of the register of all partnership relationships
- Each partnership has established terms of reference which are kept on record
- Completion and publication of the Good Practice Toolkit
- Barnet's Local Area Agreement (LAA) has been developed through the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) and other Partnership Boards using the Sustainable Community Strategy as a starting point.
- Risk registers have been produced for key partnerships
- Partnership working is referenced explicitly and embedded within standing orders, financial regulations.

4. Financial Management:

Due to the timing of the 2005 assessment, it was only possible to make limited progress on the Financial Management KLOE as it was largely aligned with the budget process for 2006/07 which had already commenced. The external auditor has commented on the subsequent improvements made and notes an expectation that an improved score will be achieved in 2007.

Action Taken

Through 2006/07 the following actions were taken and improvements achieved:

- Approval of the Medium Term Financial Strategy
- Embedding of the officer budget board process
- Development of the business case submission process for capital projects
- Embedding of the rolling programme of asset valuations

5. Debt Management:

The Council failed to achieve an improved score in Financial Standing due to the arrangements in place to monitor and recover debt. The external auditor noted that the debt recovery arrangements had initially slipped following the implementation of SAP but that this had improved in the early stages of 2006/07 with much more detailed information being report to Members.

Action Taken

Through 2006/07 the following actions were taken and improvements achieved:

- Introduction of debt management section to the Financial Monitoring report to Cabinet Resources committee
- Continuous development of the report including a focus on the most significant types of debt and debtors
- An overall reduction in the level of outstanding sundry debt of approximately £10m

6. Procedure Notes:

The external auditor noted considerable improvement on the level of procedure notes in place for its key financial systems. For the Council to maintain its score for this aspect, it will be necessary to evidence that this is a continuous process and that procedure notes are subject to regular review.

Action Taken

Through 2006/07 the following actions were taken and improvements achieved:

- Annual update of the Accountancy Manual completed
- Continued development of SAP user guidance
- Full review of the Council's financial regulations and standing orders completed

7. Value for Money Outcomes:

In the 2006 assessment, the external auditor identified areas that were relatively high cost and relatively poor outcomes but these were not considered a barrier to achieving level 3 as they were not material. For the future, it is important that the Council demonstrates either relatively low costs or the proportional quartile outcomes where costs are not considered relatively low. Any exceptions to this would have to be justified through clear strategic decisions and targets.

Action Taken

Through 2006/07 the following actions were taken and improvements achieved:

Appendix C - Risks Identified in the Corporate Plan

Objective	Risk Description	
Deliver the Three Strands approach of Protect, Enhance and Grow	Deterioration in the quality of the suburbs, for example, a lack of enforcement or attention to quality of design	
Delivering waste reduction through waste management	Inability to achieve Government targets leading to financial penalty.	
To reduce the fear of crime.	The fear of crime by members of the community remains high causing damage to the Authorities reputation.	
Delivering equality of service to all residents	Differential needs of communities poorly understood or not addressed, thereby leading to poorer outcomes and missed targets.	
Maximise the independence of older people and those requiring care or support.	Insufficient range of social care services provided with poor choice of access and ineffective management of the change process.	
Deliver the Housing Strategy to increase the availability of affordable housing and provide real alternatives to homelessness.	Low cost home ownership products developed that are not in demand or affordable	
Maintaining child protection	Sustainability of the substantial progress made with respect to outcomes for our most vulnerable children.	
Better outcomes for the Community through effective partnerships	Ineffective governance arrangements for partnerships. Poor services delivered through partnerships and low levels of satisfaction. Partnerships are not accountable, do not add value and objectives are not met.	
Effectively manage the change agenda to deliver fit for purpose services.	Organisation resistant to change and services don't meet client needs.	
Maximise residence satisfaction levels	Perception remains that "the Council doesn't do enough for people like me", and our lead over other London boroughs continues to erode.	
Set Council Tax increases in line with the Medium Term Financial Strategy and maintain adequate reserves and balances.	Financial risks arising from council activities and projects, and factors outside the council's control (eg, Government grant levels and litigation).	
To improve outcomes for vulnerable children (to be healthy, safe, enjoy and achieve, make a positive contribution and achieve economic well being)	Outcomes for vulnerable children do not improve.	